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Monday, October 24, 2016

--- On commencing at 1:59 p.m.

MS. DUFF:  Please be seated.  Good afternoon, everybody.  My name is Allison Duff, and I will be presiding today.  With me on the OEB Panel are Board members Cathy Spoel and Paul Pastirik.

So the OEB is sitting today to hear a motion filed by the Federation of Rental-housing Providers in Ontario.  And it was filed on October the 22nd.  And the motion requests that the OEB compel Union Gas Limited to file additional information.  This additional information is with respect to alternatives to Union's application to the OEB, and it's a leave to construct 40 kilometres of pipeline, 36-inch diameter, and for approval to recover the costs of the construction.

Union's application has been assigned EB number EB-2016-0186, and it's been referred to as the Panhandle reinforcement project.

So to date the OEB has made provisions for written interrogatories and responses, a transcribed technical conference, undertakings, questions and answers, and the filing of intervenor evidence, and the request for this additional information relates to questions that were posed at the technical conference.

This Panel anticipates there will be an oral hearing into hearing Union's Panhandle reinforcement application, so we assume that the purpose of today is to determine whether the OEB will compel Union to file this additional information in preparation for that oral hearing.

In terms of the process today, it is the Panel's expectations that FRPO will provide its submissions in support of its motion, followed by any intervenor that wishes to support that motion.  Then it will be OEB Staff.  Union will go next.  And at that time, if the Panel has any questions, we'll ask them of Union and FRPO at that time.  And finally, FRPO will go last to reply to any new information or submissions made.

Okay, so may I have appearances, please?
Appearances:


MR. KEIZER:  Charles Keizer on behalf of Union Gas Limited.  With me is Mr. Mark Kitchen and Ms. Karen Hockin.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Keizer.

MR. QUINN:  Good afternoon, Chair Duff, Member Pastirik, and Member Spoel.  Dwayne Quinn on behalf of the Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Quinn.

MS. VAN SOELEN:  Laura Van Soelen on behalf of Industrial Gas Users Association.

MS. DUFF:  Could please spell your name, please?

MS. VAN SOELEN:  The last name is V-a-n, space, S-o-e-l-e-n.  Laura.

MS. DUFF:  Mm-hmm.  Thank you.

MR. MONDROW:  Good afternoon, Madam Chair, Panel members.  Ian Mondrow, counsel for IGUA.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Mondrow.

MR. FERGUSON:  Cary Ferguson, counsel to APPrO, the Association of Power Producers of Ontario.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Ferguson.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Good afternoon, Panel.  Mark Rubenstein, counsel to the School Energy Coalition.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Good afternoon.  Michael Buonaguro, counsel for the Ontario Greenhouse Vegetable Growers.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.

MR. MILLAR:  Good afternoon, Panel.  Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff, and with me is Zora Crnojacki.
Preliminary Matters:


MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.

Before we begin the Panel has one preliminary matter that we would like to deal with.  Is there any other preliminary matters that anyone was aware of?

MR. KEIZER:  I have one preliminary matter, Madam Chair, and that is, after review of things on the weekend and further discussions this morning up until the lunch hour, we have instructions that with respect to the second part of FRPO's motion relating to communications involving Rover energy transfer, Panhandle eastern energy transfer and shippers on Rover, and also Ojibway to Dawn capacity shippers, that Union is prepared to provide whatever e-mail correspondence or communications relates to that, so we are prepared to accept that part.

We still have reservations with respect to the relevancy of that information, but I think to the extent that we can deal with that issue, obviously we can deal with it in the context of final argument in any event.

MS. DUFF:  Okay, thank you very much.

Is that news to you, Mr. Quinn?

MR. QUINN:  It is news, and I talked very briefly to Mr. Keizer before the Panel sat, and our express concern is that these communications would also include internal communications amongst Union Gas staff in relation to capacity interest in the Ojibway to Dawn corridor.

So in other words, if there were other conversations or communications that were held outside with other parties, that may or may not make it to the record, because there might be verbal communications, but internal, internally, Union Gas's staff, its facilities planning people, or gas control people would need to be apprised of interest and to be able to speak to the capability of the system.

So we are requesting the internal communications also, and I just want to make sure that's what Mr. Keizer is prepared to provide on behalf of Union.

MR. KEIZER:  It's my understanding at this point that we have been able to answer the question as posed by Mr. Quinn in his motion materials, and so we can answer on that basis, and I can -- and so I believe that the answer is a fulsome answer.

MS. DUFF:  Yes, I think the wording is "between parties and within Union Gas".  Those are the key words.

MR. KEIZER:  Yes, Madam Chair.

MS. DUFF:  Okay, great.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  And as a result of getting that information just moments before we sat, I will provide a bit of context in my submission as to why that hopefully is important, and you can see the -- ideally to understand the importance of the internal communication also, if that's satisfactory.

MS. DUFF:  Well, I want to avoid any kind of submissions other than to provide information.  I mean, this is a motion to compel Union to provide the information.  They are going to provide it.  I think we will all have a chance to review the material, and then we can cross-examine at the oral hearing.  I don't know that there is another decision point for this Panel to make at this stage.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, I respect that, and I will delete some of what I wanted to submit.  I do want to present to the Board at least the map so you have a -- it was part of our original submissions for the technical conference, a map showing, so it just lays out physically where the respective pipes are.  That might be of assistance to the Board.  It's in KT1.2, page 12, and we provided it to Staff in advance.

MS. DUFF:  Has it already been filed?  KT --


MR. QUINN:  Yes.

MS. DUFF:  Yeah.  Okay, great.

MR. QUINN:  Yeah, I just -- I just -- I believe, and I have been encouraged by others, that I can get into a lot of detail, and people don't have a frame of reference as to what we are talking about and where.

MS. DUFF:  This is my favourite map, actually, so thank you for picking this one.  That was a good choice.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.

MS. DUFF:  No, I am familiar with it.

There is one more procedural matter that the Board would like to ask.  It's actually directed to Mr. Quinn.  So in February -- no, no, sorry, September, FRPO indicated that it was planning to file evidence, and that date for filing evidence has now passed.

Could you please clarify what your intention is in that regard?

MR. QUINN:  Thank you, and that was actually the introduction to my submissions for today.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.

MR. QUINN:  If I may, I will just address that first in my submissions, and then hopefully that will be helpful to the Board Panel, but the bottom-line answer is we will not be submitting evidence, in part because we don't have that information -- that information resides with Union -- for us to be able to demonstrate alternatives.

So if I may, I will walk through that and then hopefully increase that understanding in that area.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  As long as you cover that point, thank you.

MR. QUINN:  Yes.

MS. DUFF:  So please proceed.
Submissions by Mr. Quinn:

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So good afternoon, Chair Duff and members of the Panel.  We do thank you for the opportunity to address our concerns here with you.

Before I start I believe it's helpful to the Board if I address the letter that Union Gas submitted this morning. These matters are very complex, and therefore through this process we have continued to refine our questions to understand Union's systems and their physical capabilities, to establish the basis for consideration of economic alternatives.

However, to be clear, we do not have access to Union's simulation, nor the communications with the market, nor information that would allow a picture to be formed by the pieces in the puzzle.  So we have determined that we would be better to get more comprehensive discovery, which, again, makes our request here all the more important and our ability to analyze that ahead of the hearing.

So we will not be putting in evidence, and I trust that will then not have a schedule impact that was a concern of Union Gas.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, please proceed.

MR. QUINN:  I don't believe I need to tell the Board how the evolution and social awareness of climate change has resulted in government policy that brings additional uncertainty to natural gas utilization in the medium and long-term.  With this uncertainty, it is incumbent upon all of us to be aware in the need for heightened prudence in the examination of long-term investments in natural gas based upon past approaches.


In presenting this motion, we are asking the Board to exercise its authority to ensure a thorough examination of alternatives that could provide a bridging solution, resulting in a deferral or potentially elimination of an expenditure for a long-term asset with uncertain economic life to meet what may be short term needs.


Given the significant long-term rate impact on delivery rates of natural gas customers, we firmly believe that alternatives which more effectively use existing Ontario infrastructure should be thoroughly evaluated.


We do recognize that the regulatory construct of a public utility rewards investment in long-term assets.  Apart from comprehensive programs like can DSM, that construct does not incent market-based solutions that aid in effective utilization of existing infrastructure and contribute to deferring or avoiding facilities.


Our proposition is that properly incented, firm deliveries to Ojibway delivery point would serve the five-year increase in demand the pipeline proposed in this application is designed to meet.  Growth beyond the five-year forecasts, which may or may not result in a net increase in demand once climate change initiatives take hold, those growth -- those changes in demand could be evaluated down the road with the benefit of experience with the new realities that may come as customers adapt.


In examining in application, we, as FRPO, set out to ensure that all alternatives were considered with the limited historical operation and forward planning information available in the application, we did ask a series of interrogatories which could not be comprehensive without a greater understanding of the facts.


With the increase in understanding gained from the interrogatory responses, a potential alternative solution formed, but there were still gaps in understanding it.  We appreciate the Board's provision of a technical conference where we attempted to access the information which would inform the Board about the nature and the dynamics of historic flows to establish capability of the market to deliver gas.  It is these facts that we are seeking the Board's order to obtain.


Since our specific information requests are contained in the motion, I will not go through each point, but did want to address one matter in terms of what we understood Union's concern to be.


Our desire to understand the nature of nominations would be to allow the Board to understand how the market can react to price signals that drive gas through Ojibway for sale at Dawn.  We are not trying to make a direct correlation of nominations to physical deliveries attributable to each of the respective participants, but instead want to understand how the gas is flowing and how it varies when there is a need.


This need and the past historical information would also be able to be correlated to dynamics that were going on in the market relative to need for gas at Dawn specifically, not Ojibway.


So if I may, and since the map is up here, I just will address this briefly and I will pause periodically because I will delete references that I would have made to the second request.


This map outlines the flow of the path of the Rover pipe, which is highlighted in orange as the Rover pipeline and its interconnection primarily with the Vector pipeline and Vector capacity.


What I would like to point out is the Panhandle system in purple.  It takes gas and has a connection point at a place called Defiance in Ohio, and gas can flow from Defiance through the purple pipe directly through Ojibway, and then through the Panhandle system on its way to Dawn.


MS. DUFF:  I am going to ask you one favour, and that’s when you refer to it as the Panhandle.  Could you call Panhandle Eastern?


MR. QUINN:  Oh, yes, thank you.


MS. DUFF:  That would be a really helpful addition, so that we’re always distinguishing it from -- so if you could do that, that’s great.


MR. QUINN:  That's very insightful, and I should have considered that myself.  But, yes, the gas is flowing from the Defiance on the Panhandle Eastern system through Ojibway into Union Gas's Panhandle system.  So I will try to distinguish that as I go through, thank you.


In consideration of the evolution of the market in the geographical area of Ohio, Michigan and Ontario, we are trying to understand the perceived limitations on firm gas available at Ojibway.


We understand from Union's -- we understood from Union's responses they could not obtain more capacity due to capacity to Ojibway being held for the Rover pipeline.  But in our view, that does not mean that the physical capacity no longer exists, only that it is held and controlled by others.


From the evidence provide in Nexus proceedings, it is clear that both Nexus and Rover are trying to bring gas to Dawn.  While the prime route for Rover is through the alternate Vector corridor, an alternate route to Dawn is through Ojibway.


Notwithstanding Union's assertions in the technical conference that Rover was not offering Ojibway as a delivery point, we believe that it could be.  As a result, we did go through the Rover evidence submitted to FERC to understand that Rover has secured 75 TJs a day to Ojibway, and its open season did in fact include transportation to the US-Canadian border for delivery.


In our submission, a pipeline would not enter into long-term contracts for pipe capacity without an assurance that the gas could be received at their point of delivery

-- which, in this case, is Ojibway.


We appreciate that Union is committing to provide those communications and we believe, by the response we heard today, that is aligned with our request in the motion, we should be able to understand the capabilities of that system as viewed by Union Gas in its view to market -- in what it is providing to market participants, excuse me.


In closing, we firmly believe the approach that we have as our main proposition is feasible.  While my professional experience from facilities planning and operations at Union contributed, I realize that I may need to submit evidence to the Board in the effect.


In that effort, I did engage Ms. Agnes Cheung, who has experience, including overseeing facilities’ applications of TCPL to the OEB.  It is our considered opinion that with this information, the Board would be able to see that the approaches that we outlining are feasible and economic.


However, our ability to provide that evidence is severely restricted by our inability to have information such as Union Gas's simulations at our disposal.


So we -- this evidence that will be provided or may be provided by Union will provide us a more comprehensive insightful discovery ahead of the hearing for testing of the proposed pipeline with other potential alternatives.


Thank you for the opportunity to address our motion.


MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Quinn.  Are there other intervenors that are in favour of the motion?  Perhaps we should do that first.


Mr. Mondrow or Ms. Van Soelen?

Submissions by Mr. Mondrow:


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Member Duff.  I will make the submissions on behalf of IGUA.  And ever conscious of cost pressures, just to advise the Panel and for the record, Ms. Van Soelen is observing here today.  So we will not be having a double claim for this appearance, rest assured; we are pretty careful about that.


Thank you, I will be brief.  IGUA is interested in this proceeding in the extent to which Union has explored alternatives to the proposed facilities.  They are expensive, they will have a significant rate impact, and clearly alternatives is well within the four corners of the permissible inquiries in this process.


And the fact that firm deliveries to Ojibway is an alternative and has been acknowledged by Union, indeed I can reference to you page 34 of the technical conference transcript, at which Mr. Wallace indicated that Union has control over the arrival of that gas at Ojibway, and we use it to service demands in the market and, insofar as doing that, we may be able to defer reinforcement on the system.


So firm delivery to Ojibway is, to some extent at least, an alternative to other reinforcements to serve the system and, in particular, the Leamington and Windsor areas.


There was discussion at the technical conference between Mr. Quinn and Union's witnesses about nominations and scheduling of gas to Ojibway versus flow through the meters at Ojibway.  And admittedly, it got a little convoluted, certainly to my reading.


But I do want to be clear that I think what FRPO was pursuing through Mr. Quinn at the technical conference, in part at least, was identification of who -- that is, which types of customers, which parties, was prepared and able to bring gas to Ojibway and therefore might be incented to commit to doing so on a firm basis.


And in that respect I would take you to page 44 of the transcript.  Page 45 of the transcript is the refusal through Mr. Keizer by Union to provide the information.  But at page 44, starting at the end of line 1, Mr. Quinn is attempting to clarify what he is asking for and why, and says:

"This is all data that Union has and it goes to who controls the gas and what assumptions can be made about that control.  It seems to me that control is a concept different from physical flow."


And there was a lot of discussion at the technical conference about the fact that physical flow can vary from nominations and scheduling because of hydraulics and pressure and so on.  And individual molecules aren't tracked.  All of which we accept as legitimate.  But there was this notion of who was prepared to bring gas to Ojibway.


And when I look at FRPO's motion materials I see similar thoughts.  So under the grounds for the motion heading at the second paragraph, FRPO writes:

"We believe the Board would benefit from understanding what gas is flowing into the system and under what arrangements to determine if the parties that control that gas could be incented to deliver firm to Ojibway in the winter at a lower cost than that of the proposed project."


And later on at the bottom of the same page of the motion materials FRPO writes:

"To be able to understand the dynamics of flow and historical capability of parties to deliver gas at Ojibway, we request that the Board direct Union to respond to our requests for actual Ojibway gas flow information as follows."


And then there is a list.  But much of the list goes to nominations.  So all of which is to say that certainly for our part we accept Union's explanation as offered repeatedly at the technical conference that there is no necessary or direct or easy correlation between nominations and scheduling on the one hand and physical flows on the other.


I take FRPO to be requesting, at least in part, and certainly IGUA supports the request to this extent, to be requesting information about what parties have historically been prepared to deliver to Ojibway regardless of whether their gas actually physically flows through the meters and in what proportion to their nominations or their scheduling.


And so it's the nomination and the scheduling information that we are particularly interested in and would support FRPO's request to that extent.  I hope that's clear.  Thank you.


MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Mondrow.  Mr. Ferguson?

Submissions by Mr. Ferguson:


MR. FERGUSON:  Cary Ferguson, counsel to APPrO.


Just one point of clarification similar to Mr. Mondrow speaking about the second page of the motion there, the list of information that FRPO is requesting, we just wanted to clarify that that would be on an aggregate basis, Mr. Quinn?


MR. QUINN:  That's correct.  It's on an aggregate basis amongst the respective market participants versus C1 contract holders and not attributable to any individual commercial party.


MR. FERGUSON:  Thank you.  And similarly, on the final page of the motion with respect to the communications, we would like that they be appropriately redacted so that customer entities and contract terms cannot be determined.  So again, the information on an aggregate basis we are okay with, but individually we would have to oppose that.


MS. DUFF:  Mr. Keizer, through you?


MR. KEIZER:  Always happy to redact.


MR. FERGUSON:  Thank you, Mr. Keizer.


MS. DUFF:  The others in the room, Mr. Rubenstein --


MR. MONDROW:  Sorry, Madam Chair, just before --


MS. DUFF:  Oh.


MR. MONDROW:  -- I apologize for interrupting, but I am not clear on Mr. Ferguson's second request, and through you perhaps I could just ask for clarification if he was referring to the communications regarding Rover and Panhandle Eastern.


MS. DUFF:  Oh.


MR. FERGUSON:  More towards specific customer data and that's describing our prospective shippers, third point there, Mr. Mondrow.


MR. MONDROW:  I'm still not -- maybe I am just missing something, but FRPO's request -- second request was for the Rover communications and the Panhandle Eastern communications.  I understand Union's agreed to those --


MR. FERGUSON:  That's not what we are redacting, I assume.


MR. KEIZER:  I think that the list includes other elements about shippers going from Ojibway to Dawn, and that's as I understand it, and so unless I am misreading it -- and I think our friend has a concern that we don't identify the actual name of the shipper to compromise any of his members.


MR. MONDROW:  I apologize.  I do see that, thank you, that helps.


MS. DUFF:  Mr. Rubenstein.

Submissions by Mr. Rubenstein:


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.  SEC supports the motion and supports Mr. IGUA -- Mr. Mondrow's --

MS. DUFF:  He is Mr. IGUA, yes.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  -- comments.  We would just note the following that I think is relevant.  Insofar as the specific requests may be in more detail and may be slightly different than is normally requested in the leave to construct with respect to the alternatives, I think the context that Mr. Quinn stated at the beginning of his application is incredibly important.  The natural gas sector and flows, there's an uncertain time, and it's, as even Union in its own application with respect to its approaches with a shorter depreciation time recognized.


So even if this information leads to a possible delay of the need to construct this for a number of years, that's especially important in this facilities application than many other applications because of the significant uncertainty about natural gas usage because of cap and trade and Ontario's climate action plan, thank you.


MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Rubenstein.


Mr. Buonaguro, did you have any comments?

Submissions by Mr. Buonaguro:


MR. BUONAGURO:  Just briefly, thank you.


My primary concern being here today was not necessarily the motion itself, but rather the potential impact the motion might have on the timing of the proceeding.  Union's evidence details how they are looking for 106 terajoules of demand to be met by the end of 2017, and I just want to point out that 48 terajoules of that is actually unobserved demand or unmet demand from greenhouse growers from 2015, when they originally were trying to expand service in the Leamington area.


So this isn't a case where we are simply looking at forecast growth over time; we actually have, by the time even their solution gets in place, demand that's been sitting around for two years unmet.


So we were mostly concerned about timing and keeping the proceeding going.  Having said that, Mr. Quinn has already said that he is not planning on filing expert evidence, which means we are not waiting for this information which would impact the timing for his expert evidence, and I know that Union is eager to keep going, so I don't have to say my more than that, thank you.


MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.  Mr. Millar.

Submissions by Mr. Millar:


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair.  I don't have a lot to add, but I did have a short submission on some of the first principles you might consider in considering this motion, and I will be quite brief.


As we are all aware, Union has brought this application for leave to construct, and the purpose of that is to bring gas to serve increasing load in southwestern Ontario.  The onus does rest with Union to demonstrate to the Board that this proposal is the one that matches the public interest.


And one of the things that Union's required to do in that application is to take a look at all the feasible alternatives to the proposal, and the reason for that is so that the Board can be certain that a problem has been identified, but also that the best solution to that problem has been identified and that nothing was overlooked.


Now, as you have heard from FRPO, they have a concern that Union may not have sufficiently explored one of the viable alternatives, in this case bringing more gas through Ojibway, which may delay or in fact get rid of the need to build the new infrastructure.


Union obviously has a different point of view, and you have already heard that through their application, their pre-filed materials, and also in the comments they made in the technical conference.


So really I think the task before you today is a simple one:  Will the -- would additional information on the Ojibway option, if I can put it that way, would that assist you in determining whether or not Union has taken a look at all the viable alternatives and whether or it's made the appropriate conclusions with respect to those alternatives.


We had prepared a further submission on the Rover element of the request; in other words, the communications between Union and Rover.  We thought that would be helpful to have on the record, but now it looks like Union agrees with that and is going to file that, so I don't have to make those submissions.


And I think that concludes my remarks, unless you have any questions, Madam Chair.


MS. DUFF:  No, no, thank you.  Mr. Keizer?

Submissions by Mr. Keizer:


MR. KEIZER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I will be brief.


With respect to this part of FRPO's motion, let me -- can I just, with your indulgence, step back and just deal with some contextual issues first?


I have heard what my friend has said and I think, to some extent, that the rationale for the question and the inquiry with respect to this information is somewhat different than what I’d understood to be the case in the technical conference.  And so I just want to -- if I can, I will take you through parts of the technical conference just so we understand what we understood the inquiry to be.  And then I just want to also touch on this whole issue of nominated flows and physical flows, and why we have a concern about how they were being considered within that context, and give you a sense of the reason and rationale for our objection.


But I believe that based on this context, we can show to you why the data that's proposed, or at least the intended purpose that FRPO has for the data, as we understood it at the time in the technical conference, is not correct, and I don't think would be helpful to the Board and would be irrelevant because of its application.


We have -- I just have a short compendium and I don't know whether that got handed up or not, which actually just was a few pages from the technical conference transcript.  Unfortunately, I don't have it electronically, so we will have to --


MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, since I think these are exclusively excerpts from the technical conference --


MR. KEIZER:  It is.


MR. MILLAR:  I don't think there is a need to mark it as an exhibit.


MR. KEIZER:  They are nothing more than that.  There has been some highlighting put in, which I did as I was reviewing the transcript, but -- some of which I will refer to and some of which I won't, and there’s some wording that were highlighted in bold.


But I did want to just kind of take it through as to what we understood the issue was at hand, and then work from that context.


As we understood it, the original question is something that's proposed at page 39 of the technical conference transcript, which would be the third page in on the compendium where at line -- commencing at line 2, it says: "Please provide..." -- and this was from a pre-filed question proposed by FRPO in the -- as part of the technical conference:

"Please provide a daily breakdown between the receipts of C1, receipts of Union System Gas manual transportation and Union Gas's from monthly or spot purchases."


And so the question was posed and Mr. Shorts for Union, later on in the page at line 16, says:

"Well, we can provide the actual daily breakdown between Ojibway and Dawn.  That’s the two endpoints that we have been talking about -- we just don't break down the actuals -- Interruption from technical conference moderator."

So at line 16, it says – Mr. Shorts says:

“We can provide the actual daily breakdown between Ojibway and Dawn.  We just don’t break down the actuals, whether it’s C1 or gas supply.”


And what that led to was further clarification on the next page at page 40, which says:
“Just to clarify what I am saying is that the actual -- we actually show the actual volumes, so the actual measured volumes that come to Ojibway, which is the actual volumes, not scheduled volumes, that they can be quite different and the actuals...”

So he gives an example as to what we understood it to be.


Now, what we understood Mr. Quinn’s point to be with respect to the question was -- is shown at page 41, starting at line 19, where it says:

"Can you provide the data that we are looking for and to the extent you have to estimate the breakdown between C1 Union Gas for annual contracts and Union system gas for monthly and spot purchases, we can take a pro rata share based on the scheduled and nominated.  Using that information, we could then proportional amount of gas coming through Ojibway that actually flowed."


So in other words, the way we understood the question to be is that you would take those nominated amounts and use that as a proxy whereby you would allocate the actual flows flowing into Ojibway.


And the concern that we had was, and still have, is that if that's the intended purpose of the data, what it is is effectively mixing apples and oranges.  You are taking something which is notional nominal flow and superimposing it on something which is an actual flow, which gave rise to the objection that we had.


And that rationale for the question continues on page 43, which says:  "The nominated and scheduled,” at line 11.

“The nominated and scheduled for each of those three categories, and we will do the math.  But in addition to that, we would like the OBA balance."

The OBA balance is there is a balancing agreement that exists between Panhandle Eastern and Union, and our concern was that those two things can't be correlated.  You can't use one to actually allocate the other, because they are not connected, they are not related to one another.  They measure two different things, and therefore it wouldn't be helpful to have it, and therefore we objected to the disclosure of the information in that respect.


And the rationale for that, I think, is just stepping back to what we are actually talking about here.  When we talk about the actual flows between Panhandle Eastern and Union, what we are talking about is an interconnection between two systems.


So effectively, what the actual flows represent is the gas that flows from Panhandle Eastern into Union.  Those are the two entities that are controlling those flows, or have those flows, and they represent contractual relationships which they have with their own shippers, whether it's Union taking gas from Panhandle or Panhandle taking gas from Union to the extent they flowed both ways.



And so the nominated amounts really reflect the fact that a shipper says I am going to put 100 units into the Union system.  Union says to that shipper, fine, I will source that 100 units on our system.  That doesn't mean that all 100 units necessarily would come in at Ojibway.  As we’ve said, if there are system or operational issues, maybe not all 100 will show up and as a result five units don't show up, let's say for example, then Union has to source that from somewhere else in its system in order to accommodate its customer, being the shipper.  Panhandle is in similar position.


But what the actual flows represent is the actual -- so that's the nominated amount, which is really a notional flow because the 100 units is getting accommodated within Union's system somehow, whether at Ojibway or somewhere else.  But the shipper has nominated it and essentially has agreed with Union to receive it, and so it gets the 100 units.


What's actually happening at the interface on the actual flow is the flow after any inadvertent energy.  In other words, in the event there is an operational concern and not all of it comes in at Ojibway, that's the actual flow between Panhandle Eastern and Union as balancing authority, so to speak.  You know, where effectively they have to work out the fact that it doesn't always evenly match --


[Interruption from technical conference moderator.]


MS. DUFF:  Just give me a second.


MR. KEIZER:  I think that effectively what happens is -- there we go; now we’re up and running.


Effectively is that the actual flows represent the relationship between two parties, Union and Panhandle.  So there is no ability -- and the way they keep track of the fact that there is differences in those flows is through an agreement called an operating balancing agreement where effectively they record the differences and sometimes they will nominate more, or they will nominate something else differently, so that actually over time, if more gas is being taken by Union, they will pay it back to Panhandle over time.  It's an operational thing between system operators.


So when you take the actual flow, it's not reflecting what a C1 shipper does in the Union system.  So the nomination reflects the recovery and the delivery of gas in the system for Union, but not necessarily at the interconnection.


And so our concern with respect to the data was that effectively, we'd be taking these nominated amounts, using it as a means to allocate the actual amount when in actual -- which is what the intent of the question seemed to be, and they are two different things.


You can't use an internal system number which is the nomination of the customer, which is a accommodated within Union's system, both what comes into Ojibway and what may be sourced from other places, if there is something less than what was delivered, something less than what was nominated, and an actual flow that represents an interconnection between two systems that are balancing any number of flows -- not just that one shipper's flows, but any number of flows.


So that was the primary concern with respect to the data, is that it actually was intended for its purpose to be something which it was not.  And as a result, the witnesses said in the technical conference you can't colour-code the molecule, you can't take the nominated amount and trace it through to the actual amount, because that's happening at a notional level, and there is a physical flow happening underneath, and you balance that by other means.

And it's really -- that is the fundamental concern with respect to -- and that's the intent from which we understood the data was requested, and therefore is the basis of our objection.

Now -- so I heard something I thought somewhat different this morning from my friend with FRPO, Mr. Quinn, when he talked about that it's -- he wants to look instead at the market signals and how the market reacts to the signals.  I am not sure how the nominated numbers reflect that, but I am not sure how it ties into what was previously stated at the technical conference with respect to that.

And I just wanted to look and see if I had any comments with respect to -- in terms of Mr. Millar's comments with respect to the alternatives, I think Union has set out to date so far and addressed this much as they can with respect to the alternatives, and they continue -- obviously continue throughout the hearing to do so through cross-examination or otherwise, but -- and certainly the Ojibway interconnection isn't a new alternative, it is something that was originally in our pre-filed evidence.  We raised it as being an alternative and we put forward evidence as to why that alternative wasn't going to function.

The primary issue here today is not whether Ojibway is an alternative, it's the nature of the data that's been sought and the intended purpose for which it was to be used.

And I'm just looking at my notes, Madam Chair.  Sorry for the indulgence.  Can I just have a moment?

Those are our submissions.
Questions by the Board:

MS. DUFF:  I have a few questions.

First, Mr. Keizer, the request on page 2 of the motion, the daily amounts nominated over a three-year period, the complexity or the difficulty effort for Union to produce that?  Is there anything onerous that you object to?

MR. KEIZER:  I don't think there is an issue with respect to capability.

MS. DUFF:  And just, if this information were to be provided and it was somehow, you know, in your opinion, misused or mischaracterized for a purpose that it should be, you could make those submissions at that time, could you not?

MR. KEIZER:  Sorry, Madam Chair.  I just have some -- that I believe that the first request may already actually be --


MS. DUFF:  Well, actually, I was going to ask that -- well, good point.  The first -- Mr. Quinn, the first one, the daily amount measured by Union, is that not JT1.10?

MR. QUINN:  It is JT1.10 as the -- what they provided is the physical amount.

MS. DUFF:  Right.

MR. QUINN:  That is provided through those meters each day.  What we are talking about here is the schedule nominated, and I will address that at the appropriate time, clarification in that regard.

We are not -- I will wait until you ask me to clarify, but clearly we have the daily amount at those locations, but we don't have the average pressure at those meters for each day, which is helpful in terms of understanding the system constraint that has been presented by Union.

MS. DUFF:  Back to my original question.  The complexity, the effort required, the availability of the data; is there any reason that Union would find it difficult to provide this answer?

MR. KEIZER:  Just one moment.  I have a question for my colleagues.

The data should be available.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  All right.  That was the main question.

Mr. Quinn, when I look at the list on page 2 of your motion, so the first bullet, which is the daily amount measured, that piece of information is provided in JT1.10.  Do you agree?

MR. QUINN:  I agree.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  And parts of this were provided through the other undertakings, like the daily amount nominated, the spot gas purchases, I think they said there was none, but it wasn't a complete listing, and from what I am understanding from you, that it is -- each element here is of value to you in order for you to be making the assessments that you want to make and the submissions that you want to make at the oral hearing.

MR. QUINN:  That's correct.

MS. DUFF:  And is it important -- but there's -- is there any sum happening here?  You want daily for all of these?  You don't want an annual average or anything like that?

MR. QUINN:  Daily will need to be pulled to be able to come up with the average anyway, so we would like to see the daily, because -- and I am intentional here -- we have already analyzed some of the data we have so far.  You don't want me to advance any evidence, so I am not going to speak to specifically that, but having them daily then we can extend our analysis from the information we already have in JT1.10 and then be able to understand the market dynamics on a daily basis, but the understanding overall will be broader than that, but the daily helps complete the picture.

MS. DUFF:  And price isn't on this list.

MR. QUINN:  No, it's not, yet.  We didn't ask it at the hearing.  To the extent that we would have had the foresight to see that dynamic of what's occurring, the challenge is -- and I accept Union has said Ojibway is not a liquid point.  There is not a point traded at Ojibway where you could get good information.  There is at Dawn, and there is upstream of Dawn, and that will be something we will be seeking in the hearing, but we didn't ask it at that time because we still hadn't completed the whole picture ourselves, as we were learning.

MS. DUFF:  Okay, thank you.

Mr. Quinn, I just wanted to make sure -- we were having a -- you were responding to questions that I was asking.  Do you want some time to actually prepare for a final reply regarding the conversations and the points that have been made here?  Do you need some time?

MR. QUINN:  I appreciate that indulgence, but I think I can actually reply, because I think I might assist not only the Board but Union in clarifying misunderstandings that they have.  A number of times Mr. Keizer said, we understood this, we understood that.  With some clarifying information I think that would finish my submissions.

MS. DUFF:  Please proceed.
Reply Submissions by Mr. Quinn:

MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.

First off -- and to be direct, while we want daily data, it is to see trends, not necessarily -- the trends can be distorted or camouflaged by aggregate over a month or seasonal basis, so we are looking for trends.  But very importantly, we are not trying to correlate daily physical to daily schedule nominated.

To take a step back, as -- which I think is an important factor, we acknowledge there is an operational balancing agreement, we have asked for the balances, but the gas only flows one direction, it flows from Ojibway to Dawn, unless there was some form of interruption, but that is -- that's the period during the winter we are mostly concerned about.  It is flowing from Ojibway to Dawn.

An operational balancing agreement is between two pipelines, but it can't always go in the same direction.  The intent of an operational balancing agreement is to have the pipelines come back into balance, so if there were over-deliveries each day for a period of two weeks, there would be commercial compensation likely owed to the party who was not adjusting their ability to meet the intent of the contract.  A balancing agreement is to try to keep the parties aligned together in the contract.

So as -- and I think Mr. Keizer alluded to -- the gas would have to be paid back over time, so if it went two, three, five days in one direction, the gas would have to be paid back so that things would come back into balance.  That's where the balancing information is helpful.

We don't have crisis.  I acknowledge that it would be something that -- it is something we will be seeking at the appropriate time.  But we do know --


MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Quinn, you said the appropriate time.  When is that going to be?  I don't think we want to sit here in an oral hearing and have you asking Union to provide an undertaking to provide price data that then nobody has a chance to ask any questions about.  We are trying to get away from things coming up at the last minute.


So you don't have to ask for it right now, but if you are going to want to the use price data, I think it would be useful for all of us to know that well in advance of any oral hearing because we don't want surprises.  We don't want to get into that situation where a whole bunch of undertakings are given at an oral hearing, because that just prolongs the process and makes it very difficult for everyone, including the Panel, to manage the information and to receive proper submissions from parties on it.


So please, please don't assume that you have to wait indefinitely to ask those things.


MR. QUINN:  Member Spoel, I acknowledge your concern. It is one that I went through last week because I was advised, and I believed that we needed to keep our motion to those questions that were asked and not answered in the technical conference.


Many other questions, and I have -- not many, but I have a short list of questions that were actually extracted from our motion, because we were concerned that we needed to stick to what was asked.  And if it was my omission, then I will apologize to the Board.  But our intent would be to request this in advance of the hearing in a way that hopefully is satisfactory to the Board, and it’s information that would be helpful in this context.


MS. SPOEL:  Okay.


MR. QUINN:  So I would just finish on a couple of points, because there was a second point that Mr. Keizer brought up.


As an example, the prices we don't have -- we do know, however, January and February of 2014 information is on the public record from a previous proceeding that would be of assistance and would provide understanding to be able to correlate these matters.


It's more seasonal information.  It's not trying to say one price at any one day, and trying to make the correlations that Mr. Keizer thought we were trying to make.  These are more trends than they are specific daily correlations.


There are questions that are related to -- not to Union had addressed that -- it said they had addressed the Ojibway alternative.  Their Ojibway alternative was to buy the gas and maintain control themselves.  Our proposition is that allow others to bring the gas, Union only incents them like Parkway delivery obligation where other parties provide that gas and Union doesn't have to have the capacity to do it.  They are just incenting others to do so on a firm and obligated basis, precisely the way that Parkway delivery obligation works.


Lastly, in terms of the submission Mr. Keizer had made relating to Mr. Millar -- I am sorry.  I apologize, I have lost my point here.  These are physical flows that have basis in historical reality.  They will inform alternatives that maybe could have been in the past, but we have to look forward.  In looking forward, we have asked for, as Union is going to provide, what is the capability of that system going forward.  We trust that we will be able to link those pieces together, including the ability of the system to take the gas in the hearing if we are furnished with this information.


And those are my responses.


MS. DUFF:  One comment I have is there is no process for questions to be filed before the hearing, unless it's through a motion.  The Board, right now we have a schedule and we are still on it.  Through Procedural Order No. 2 we have had intervenor evidence which was filed on Friday.  We have interrogatories, interrogatory responses on that evidence, and then I think we are going to oral hearing.  So just to clarify that.


One question to Union I have is just on the topic of price; is there a price at Ojibway?  Is there such a thing on a daily basis?


MR. KEIZER:  Not that I am aware of.


MS. DUFF:  Thank you.  I suggest we take a break.  The Board will confer with Mr. Millar and he will advise you whether we think we can deliberate today and get back or not.


So we are going to take a break at this stage and let's say we’ll take half an hour.  That will take us to 25 after three, but please stay in tune with Mr. Millar to be advised. Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 2:55 p.m.

--- On resuming at 3:24 p.m.

DECISION:


MS. DUFF:  Right on time.  The OEB grants the motion and directs Union to provide the answers as stated in the motion filed by FRPO; in particular on page 2, the list of daily nominations, and on page 3, the communications regarding the Ojibway to Dawn path as agreed to by Union today.


In reaching this decision the OEB has weighed the effort required by Union, because Union does have the data, it is readily available, and that of the intervenors and the parties, they should be afforded the opportunity to test the evidence, consider alternatives, and perform their own analysis.


The OEB wants to ensure that access to data is not a barrier to the parties.  And it may be that this information is not relevant, but at this stage of the process prior to the oral hearing, we do not want to preclude that analysis.


The next steps -- any comments?


MR. KEIZER:  No.


MS. DUFF:  The next steps, OEB Staff will be in touch with parties regarding potential dates for the OEB hearing.  We are adjourned, and thank you very much.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 3:25 p.m.
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